JANUARY 2025

THE FORGOTTEN ONES:

The Impact of Climate Change on the Health and Well-being of Persons with Albinism

THE CAN

Artwork: Gwen Mushonga O'NEILL INSTITUTE GEORGETOWN LAW













Acknowledgments

This report is the product of a collaboration between the O'Neill Institute for National and Global Health Law, The Noble Hands Zimbabwe Trust, the 4Girls Focus Trust, the Albinism Dare to Dream Initiative, the Albinism Alive Initiative, the Albino Trust of Zimbabwe, the Albinism Charity Organisation of Zimbabwe, the Signs of Hope Trust, the Faith & Vision for Life Trust, and the Zimbabwe Albino Association.

We are grateful for the time, insights and perspectives offered by the many partners and organizations who helped organize, lead and create safe and dignified spaces for discussions.

Many thanks to artist Gwen Mushonga whose artwork transforms discarded African fabrics into evocative works that celebrate strength and identity. As a woman with albinism, Gwen reimagines these materials into powerful portraits and soulful creations, each telling a story of overcoming adversity and embracing one's true self.

Most importantly we are deeply appreciative to everyone who trusted us with their stories.

This report was funded by the generous philanthropy and engagement of the Foundation for Systemic Change.



Advancing Equality and Justice Through Structural, Lasting Change

This report was researched and written by:

Sarah L. Bosha Adi Radhakrishnan Gwen Mushonga

Kudakwashe Machiha

We are grateful to Nadia Mutisi for her research support.

"[Persons] with disabilities form part of different sub-groups of marginalized and vulnerable populations, have different challenges to adapt to climate-induced disasters, and are not recognized in the sustainability research agenda."¹

SUMMARY

Albinism is a rare genetic condition characterized by a lack of melanin, which results in severe sensitivity to ultraviolet (UV) radiation. For the almost 70,000 individuals with albinism in Zimbabwe,² climate change raises a number of challenges in their daily lives, impacting their enjoyment of basic human rights, such as the right to health, education, and work. Due to the unique color of their skin, persons with albinism are often ostracized in society and face pronounced levels of stigma and discrimination that harm their mental health. Climate change magnifies the human rights deprivations persons with albinism face.

The effects of climate change are increasing human exposure to ultraviolet radiation, and persons with albinism are at a disproportionate risk of the consequences. Workshop participants reported that climate change increased the risk of sunburn, a precursor to skin cancer, and highlighted the challenge of irregular access to sun protectants, such as sunscreen lotion, which was too expensive for many persons with albinism.

This report documents the findings from storytelling workshops held with 73 individuals comprising persons with albinism, and caregivers and guardians of children with albinism in Zimbabwe. The myriad of challenges persons with albinism face include climate-related health shocks, lack of adequate inclusive health care services, lack of access to inclusive education, and a heavy economic reliance on the informal sector, which increases their vulnerability to the impacts of climate change on health. Many individuals with albinism work as vendors or farmers, often in outdoor environments with limited access to shade and other protection. The need to work for economic survival conflicts with the risk of severe health consequences from environmental exposure.

Mothers who give birth to children with albinism are often abandoned by the fathers of their children. This abandonment leads to a disproportionate burden of care work for female-headed households. There is a disproportionate burden of care for female-headed households. The heightened demands of care work and the risk of abandonment can impact the mental health of both mothers and their children.

Discrimination based on skin color is a dominant experience for all persons with albinism regardless of age or any other status — negatively impacting their mental health and, in some cases, affecting both their health-seeking behavior and their ability to access quality health care services.³ Persons with albinism reported facing persistent discrimination and stigma, both in social settings and within health care systems. They stated that health care providers often lack training on albinism and sometimes provide incorrect or dismissive care. In extreme cases, persons with albinism reported health discrimination, where health care professionals even refused to treat individuals with albinism due to misconceptions about the condition. The lack of inclusive health care services compounds the impact of climate change, making it even more difficult for individuals with albinism to access the care they need.

Women with albinism also face nuanced sexualized gender-based discrimination fueled by harmful myths and traditional beliefs. Mothers of children with albinism also suffer under the burden of the discrimination their children face, including ostracization from paternal relatives and rejection by their intimate partners.

Addressing these issues requires urgent action — a comprehensive, intersectional approach to health care and climate resilience, one that recognizes the unique vulnerabilities of persons with albinism.

To fulfill its national and international obligations, the government of Zimbabwe should consider implementing additional policy and legal measures to ensure that persons with albinism receive adequate care in health facilities, including accurate health information from health care providers and free access to skin cancer, screening, treatment and prevention measures, such as free access to sunscreen lotion. To address the disproportionate burden in the care economy and precarious work in the informal economy, the government must put in place social protection measures to support female-headed households of mothers of children with albinism to improve the welfare of women and children.

Climate change is a real and present threat to the well-being, health, and dignity of persons with albinism, and it is critical to create climate change-resilient health systems and policies to enable the enjoyment of the full range of human rights.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 2 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
- **3 SUMMARY**
- 6 METHODOLOGY
- 8 LEGAL & POLICY FRAMEWORKS ALBINISM RIGHTS IN ZIMBABWE
- 9 Constitution of Zimbabwe
- 9 Domestic Measures in Zimbabwe
- 9 Regional Human Rights Frameworks on Rights of Persons with Albinism
- 10 United Nations and International Frameworks Protecting the Rights of Persons with Albinism
- 10 Data on Persons with Albinism in Zimbabwe

13 STIGMA, DISCRIMINATION, AND THE RIGHT TO HEALTH

- 13 Discriminated from Birth
- 17 Discrimination Within the Health System
- 21 Gender, Albinism, and Climate Change
- 22 Climate Change and Access to Sunscreen Lotion
- 24 CONCLUSION

25 RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE GOVERNMENT OF ZIMBABWE:

- 26 To Civil Society Organizations Working to Support Persons with Albinism in Zimbabwe:
- 26 To Research and Academic Institutions:
- 27 ENDNOTES

Methodology

This report describes the impact of climate change on the human rights of persons with albinism, with a focus on Zimbabwe, which is ranked high on the Global Climate Risk Index⁴ and is home to one of the largest populations of persons with albinism in the world.⁵

In June 2024, 20 leaders from nine nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) and trusts ("the collective"), all dedicated to supporting persons with albinism, and health lawyers from the O'Neill Institute for National and Global Health Law convened meetings to address the difficulties that persons with albinism experience and to deliberate about how climate change exacerbates these challenges.

The collective mobilized its members for storytelling workshops that enabled individuals with albinism and caregivers of children with albinism to share their experiences with climate change. The discussions were facilitated and led by the collective in both English and Shona, with interpretation provided as necessary. Discussions were semi-structured and covered topics related to living as a person with albinism in Zimbabwe, including issues related to discrimination, health, work, education, and the impact of climate change.

The discussions were held in a safe and private location with counselors from the collective on hand to provide moral support as participants shared their lived experiences. All participants were informed about the purpose of the discussions, how their stories would be used, and their participation was voluntary.

In total, the collective held six storytelling sessions and met with 73 participants, consisting of persons with albinism and caregivers of children with albinism. The goal was to hear the perspectives of people from different socioeconomic backgrounds, including age, gender, geography, and primary sources of livelihood. The collective had raised the importance of conducting workshops with individuals living in rural Zimbabwe. As such, workshops were held with participants from two urban communities (Epworth and Chitungwiza) and three rural areas (Zvishavane, Goromonzi, and Concession). The collective also convened one "women-only session" with students from the University of Zimbabwe and other early-career women.

While this report is based on conversations from the discussions with the collective and workshops with persons with albinism and parents of children with albinism in Zimbabwe, the needs, challenges, and recommendations that are discussed are relevant to persons with albinism across the African continent. If both parents carry the gene for albinism,

there is a 25% chance their child will inherit the condition,

regardless of whether the parents have albinism themselves.

Persons with albinism are also

vulnerable to sun exposure

and face a higher risk of developing skin rashes, burns, and other skin malignancies

Africa, especially Southern Africa, has the highest prevalence of albinism, ranging from

1 for every 15,000 people to 1 for every 5,000 people.

Background Understanding Albinism

Albinism is a relatively rare, non-contagious genetic condition that affects people around the world, regardless of gender, race, or ethnicity. As a recessively inherited condition, anyone can carry the gene that causes albinism. If both parents carry the gene for albinism, there is a 25% chance their child will inherit the condition, regardless of whether the parents have albinism themselves.⁶

Albinism is characterized by a deficit in melanin, a photoprotective pigment that protects humans from the harmful effects of ultraviolet (UV) radiation.⁷ The deficit of melanin production consequently results in a lack of pigmentation in the hair, skin, and/or eyes.

The lack of melanin in the eyes contributes to vision impairments ranging from mild to severe cases due to the presentation of hypoplastic fovea, photophobia, hyperopia, strabismus, nystagmus, and/or loss of stereoscopic perception.⁸ As a result, many persons with albinism are extremely sensitive to bright light and have difficulty reading small text. While the impairments are permanent, eyeglasses, visual aids, and other adaptive devices can help with sight overall.

Persons with albinism are also vulnerable to sun exposure and face a higher risk of developing skin rashes, burns, and other skin malignancies,⁹ including skin cancer, which can be a life-threatening condition.¹⁰

Because of the associated visual impairments and serious health implications due to vulnerability to skin cancer, persons with albinism are classified as persons with disabilities.¹¹ Under international law, disability is defined as "long-term physical, mental, intellectual, or sensory impairments which, in interaction with various barriers may hinder ... full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others."¹²

Africa, especially Southern Africa, has the highest prevalence of albinism, ranging from 1 for every 15,000 people to 1 for every 5,000 people.¹³ Detailed epidemiological studies and disaggregated data are limited. However, it is known that the percentage of persons with albinism in Zimbabwe is one of the highest globally. It is estimated to be between 1 in every 2,000-4,000 people¹⁴ and can reach 1 in 1,000 people in some communities across the country.¹⁵

An Overview of Climate Change and Albinism

Climate change is increasing human exposure to UV radiation from the sun.¹⁶ Ozone depletion and reduced cloud cover allows more radiation to reach the Earth's surface, and higher daily temperatures are believed to amplify the effects of this radiation on the skin.¹⁷

Daily human behavior also changes as people spend more time outdoors to make the most out of work opportunities due to reduced rainfall and economic disruptions — ultimately leading to greater exposure to UV radiation.¹⁸

Zimbabwe is highly vulnerable to climate change globally and ranks in the top three countries of Southern Africa on the Global Climate Risk Index.¹⁹ The average annual temperature in the country is projected to increase by 1 to 1.5° by 2040,²⁰ with warming projected to increase through 2080.²¹ Zimbabwe's geographical location makes it vulnerable to erratic rainfall, droughts, and vector-borne diseases.²² Zimbabwe has been subject to El Niño events since 1982, which have been associated with prolonged dry spells, reduced rainfall, and increased temperatures, resulting in crop failures and significant health challenges.²³ Urgent action is needed to safeguard the most vulnerable groups, which include persons with albinism.

Climate change risks compound the range of human rights violations that persons with albinism already face throughout their lives, particularly breaches of the right to health. Exposure to UV radiation from the sun can cause damage to the skin, such as blisters, solar elastosis, and actinic keratosis. Additionally, they are at constant risk of developing skin cancer due to UV sun exposure.²⁴ Over time, the damage accumulates, leading cells to grow out of control and form tumors. Damage in this form can be permanent and ultimately lead to skin cancer.²⁵

Compared to the general population, persons with albinism globally are much more likely to develop skin cancer from UV radiation exposure, with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck being the most prevalent.²⁶ Studies show that persons with albinism across Africa are up to 1,000 times more likely to develop skin cancer than the general population.²⁷ Furthermore, researchers estimate that 98% of persons with albinism do not live beyond the age of 40 due to sun exposure, with skin cancer being the primary cause of death.²⁸

Legal & Policy Frameworks Albinism Rights in Zimbabwe

Zimbabwe has taken important steps to safeguard the rights and dignity of persons with albinism through legislative and policy initiatives. However, there is room for further reform.

CONSTITUTION OF ZIMBABWE

Section 22 of Zimbabwe's Constitution mandates government ministries at all levels to recognize the rights of persons with physical or mental disabilities, in particular, their right to be treated with respect and dignity,²⁹ and to ensure that assistance is provided to enable members of the community to achieve their full potential and to minimize the disadvantages suffered by them.³⁰ In addition to ensuring all buildings and facilities are accessible to persons with disabilities, the Constitution requires ministries to mainstream the requirements of persons with disabilities in its development plans.³¹

Additionally, the Constitution guarantees the enjoyment of the following human rights based on the principles of non-discrimination,³² respect for human dignity,³³ the right to life,³⁴ the right to work,³⁵ and the right to health,³⁶ among others.

DOMESTIC MEASURES IN ZIMBABWE

Zimbabwe has a National Disability Policy (NDP) that was launched in June 2021³⁷ to improve the well-being of persons with disabilities and their families in both rural and urban areas. The NDP also endeavors to strengthen the right to decent work, protect labor rights, and promote access to housing and health care, among others, for persons with disabilities.

In 2024, Zimbabwe launched the National Assistive Technology Strategy and Assistive Products Priority List for persons with disabilities.³⁸ Modeled after the World Health Organization's (WHO) priority list of assistive devices, the Zimbabwean priority list has pledged to support access to spectacles and magnifiers to address the vision needs of persons with albinism. The government has also classified sunscreen lotion as an assistive device, which is critical given the existing tax exemption for assistive technologies in the country³⁹ and may improve affordability.

Furthermore, new legislation related to provide disability protections is also under consideration. The Persons with Disabilities Bill (H.B. 2 of 2023)⁴⁰ has already undergone public consultations, and persons with albinism were able to make submissions for their recognition. Currently, section 35 (1) of the bill mentions the importance of protecting the right to health and providing support for persons with albinism.

REGIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS FRAMEWORKS ON RIGHTS OF PERSONS WITH ALBINISM

Within the regional human rights framework, Zimbabwe has ratified relevant treaties related to the rights of persons with albinism, including the African Charter on Human and Peoples Rights and the Protocol to the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights on the Rights of Women in Africa ("Maputo Protocol").⁴¹ In May 2024, the government of Zimbabwe ratified the Protocol to the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in Africa ("African Disability Protocol").⁴² The African Disability Protocol obligates states parties to mainstream disability in all spheres of life⁴³ and to provide assistance and support to enable persons with disabilities to realize their human rights.⁴⁴

Additionally, at the Southern Africa Development Community (SADC) level, a declaration on the Protection of Persons with Albinism was issued in Harare, Zimbabwe, in August 2024 during a summit between heads of state and government.⁴⁵ Championed by activists advocating for albinism rights in Africa and globally, the declaration places a responsibility on SADC heads of state and governments to prioritize actions, including (i) conducting education and awareness-raising campaigns to address discrimination against persons with albinism, (ii) addressing issues relevant to the health and human rights of persons with albinism, and (iii) ensuring that sunscreen lotion is added to all essential medicines list and is available to all persons with albinism, including in the remotest regions.⁴⁶

UNITED NATIONS AND INTERNATIONAL FRAMEWORKS PROTECTING THE RIGHTS OF PERSONS WITH ALBINISM

Persons with albinism are protected by all existing human rights treaties that guarantee human rights for all persons, including the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. Zimbabwe has also ratified treaties that afford protections to specific groups of persons, such as the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD), the Convention on the Rights of the Child, and the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination.⁴⁷

Persons with albinism have specific protections under the CRPD, which recognizes albinism as a disability.⁴⁸ As a state party to the CRPD, Zimbabwe must guarantee the right to the enjoyment of all human rights by persons with disabilities in the country, including the right to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, the right to inclusive education, to protect the family, the right to work, the right to life, and the right to equality and non-discrimination.

Zimbabwe is also a state party to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change⁴⁹ (UNFCCC), a primary instrument to address climate change and its impacts globally. As such, Zimbabwe is obligated to create policies and measures to mitigate the adverse effects of climate change on human health and welfare. These policies and measures must also respect human rights, including the right to health for persons with disabilities and people in vulnerable situations.⁵⁰

DATA ON PERSONS WITH ALBINISM IN ZIMBABWE

In addition to robust legal and policy frameworks, reliable and comprehensive data is important to support the protection and fulfillment of the human rights of persons with albinism. In 2022, Zimbabwe's Statistical Office ("ZimSTAT") included a question on albinism in the national census in a bid to improve its disaggregated data collection methods.⁵¹ Before this change, persons with albinism were counted as a part of one homogenous group and designated as persons with disabilities, without capturing the nuances and diversity of the community. While this is a positive development, the government of Zimbabwe should continue to disaggregate data to understand the diversity of other disabilities, not just albinism, in Zimbabwe to improve access to services for all. The UN has noted that a growing number of African countries are beginning to include persons with albinism in their national censuses, which is a welcome development.⁵²

Life as a Person with Albinism in Zimbabwe

Workshop participants reported facing high levels of discrimination rooted in cultural myths, such as the belief that persons with albinism are a curse from God or ancestral spirits and are not human beings, but "unfinished creatures."⁵³ Reportedly, women who give birth to children with albinism were blamed for the occurrence and accused of sin, adultery, or some other form of evil.

> When I gave birth to my son, people in the community said I had sinned and that is why I gave birth to a child with albinism. People in my church would continually ask me, How do you accept the birth of such a child? People told me there was a curse on my family for giving birth to such a child and that I should confess my sins because this was not normal. People told me, "Do not let your child pass near my house.

> > - Mother of a child with albinism from rural Zimbabwe

Stigma and discriminatory attitudes and behaviors permeate every facet of society – church, family, work, schools, and the general public. The dehumanization of persons with albinism is complex and ambiguous.⁵⁴ While they are discriminated against and shunned in society, they are also viewed as "lucky charms" that can bring wealth and good fortune. Some Zimbabweans view albinism as associated with *manjuzu* (water spirits/mermaids) known to bring blessings, such as good health and financial or material wealth. This has led to the abuse of persons with albinism in rituals intended to harness the powers of these "spirits."⁵⁵ Participants recounted experiences in their daily lives that affirmed the continued strength of the prevailing attitudes of both otherworldly reverence and loathing.

People believe that persons with albinism are supernatural beings that bring luck, or that if you make them happy, it brings you good fortune. A random vendor selling their wares in the city once asked me to touch or pray over their goods.

> — Young female university student with albinism

During the workshops, participants with albinism also reported being mocked or laughed at while walking in public or being touched without their consent by strangers. One young woman with albinism shared that growing up she was called *chidhoma* (an evil mythical being) or *chidhori* (a derogatory reference to cheap Caucasian plastic dolls commonly sold in Zimbabwe) and that other children lifted her dress to check for batteries. These experiences result in immense mental anguish, which in some cases can lead to self-discrimination.⁵⁶

When I walk in public, people are always name-calling. I remember once wishing that God would change my skin color. But I decided that instead of looking down on myself, I would be the best and most successful version of myself.

> - Young female university student with albinism

Parents of children with albinism also reported discrimination against infants and young children by members of the public and, in some cases, by other children. Parents reported that they heard neighbors discourage their children from playing with a child with albinism or encountered namecalling of their child with the derogatory term *musope* — the correct designation is *munhu aneruvara*. The mental toll of bullying impacts both the children and caregivers.

> When my child with albinism was born, I accepted her because my family has a history of persons with albinism. In fact, one of my brothers had a child with albinism, and my father-inlaw is a man with albinism. My wife was worried that I would not accept my child, but I did. The biggest challenge I have faced is discrimination from our neighbors. One day I saw my daughter being followed by other children from her school who were name-calling and pushing her. It traumatized me deeply to see my daughter being treated this way. I ended up moving her from that (a government/public) school to a private school as I wanted her to have a better experience, where she would not experience abuse from other children.

> > - Father of a child with albinism from a rural community

Women and girls with albinism, who face intersectional discrimination on the basis of sex, disability, and gender, often face the risk of sexual violence due to harmful myths, which fetishize their sexual prowess, and the false belief that sex with a female with albinism can cure $\rm HIV.^{57}$

I was walking at the taxi rank in Harare when touts began commenting loudly to each other about how "sweet" women with albinism are in bed. They were shouting to each other that if you get a woman with albinism, you will be very lucky. I felt ashamed and angry at the same time because of how they continued to loudly remark to each other in front of strangers. As an activist, this kind of behavior worries me because it places me and other women and girls at risk of sexual violence. Additionally, it makes it hard for us to form meaningful intimate relationships. We can never tell if a man without albinism is genuinely in love or just approaching you because of these fake myths.

> - A female albinism rights activist from an urban community

Scholars and experts have noted that the constant deluge of discriminatory attitudes, practices, and myths about persons with albinism often results in psychological problems, such as reclusive behavior, withdrawal from society, and inferiority complexes, among others.⁵⁸ One mother shared that her six-year-old son with albinism had already experienced discrimination from other children who ran away screaming when he tried to engage in play with them. She shared that he can tell when he is shunned by his peers and then will decide to withdraw from all the other children: the rejection. discrimination, and social withdrawal of her sociable son deeply hurt her. Within the workshops, some participants talked about standing up to bullies and discrimination as persons with albinism a triumph of resilience in the face of systemic hate. One mother proudly shared that her daughter who attended a government primary school made sure to report and take every one of her bullies to the school headmaster/principal's office.

Stigma, Discrimination, and the Right to Health

From birth to childhood, adolescence, and adulthood, discrimination impedes the enjoyment of a wide range of human rights by persons with albinism. Climate change compounds these harms and further impacts the quality of life and the enjoyment of human rights for persons with albinism, particularly the right to health.

To respect, protect, and fulfill the right to health, states have a duty to ensure that all health care services are available, acceptable, accessible, and of high quality.⁵⁹ For persons with disabilities, including persons with albinism, states must guarantee that the quality of treatment by health care professionals is on equal footing with others without disabilities, ensure training and promulgation of ethical standards for public and private health care, and prevent discriminatory treatment or denial of care.⁶⁰

Furthermore, the African Disability Protocol obligates states parties to create health services that are responsive to the needs of persons with disabilities⁶¹ and ensure the provision of appropriate facilities and services.⁶²

DISCRIMINATED FROM BIRTH

Mothers in the workshop who gave birth to children with albinism reported discrimination in maternal health care settings, identifying the following issues they faced:

- 1. Lack of medical and health information from nurses about the condition of albinism
- 2. The provision of incorrect medical and health information from health care workers
- 3. Discriminatory practices and attitudes from health care workers

Lack of Information

Mothers reported that public health care providers did not provide adequate information about albinism and, in some cases, were perceived to be afraid to talk about albinism as they did not want to offend mothers or feared the mother would abandon her child. Research has found that often health care providers not only have insufficient knowledge about albinism but may also hold misconceptions about the genetic condition, which results in discriminatory practices,⁶³ and can undermine patient experiences in health care centers.

I gave birth to my child in 2021. I wasn't told that my child had albinism and I had never seen a baby with albinism. When I asked the nurse about my baby's appearance, the nurse ignored my question and didn't respond. Later, a different nurse came to explain the baby had albinism but she said she didn't know what we should use on his skin. She advised us to use She advised us to use a white fragrance-free moisturizer often used for newborns, which caused my son to experience sunburn. Later, my friend who had a child with albinism taught me how to use sunscreen lotion.

— Mother of a child with albinism from a rural community

In the workshops, participants reported that when they gave birth to children with albinism, the nurses, and doctors, particularly in public hospitals, failed to advise new mothers that their infant had albinism, explain the genetic condition, or share the importance of applying sunscreen lotion and keeping the child's skin protected from direct sunlight through protective clothing. In some cases, parents were told their baby had albinism but did not receive further medical guidance on infant care. One mother reported that in addition to being denied access to information, the nurses were discriminatory, making her feel uncomfortable in the health care center where she gave birth.

> When I gave birth to my son with albinism, I asked the nurses why his skin color was so pale. The nurses said that nothing was wrong with my baby, but I was

surprised when they kept calling each other to come and stare at my baby as if he was a spectacle of some sort. No one told me he had albinism, nor explained to me how I should care for and protect his skin. At first, I used petroleum jelly on his skin. It was only later when I was introduced to the Zimbabwe Albinism Association that I learned about using sun sunscreen lotion.

- Mother of a child with albinism from rural Zimbabwe

Literature confirms that the lack of guidance and information on albinism from health care workers is a major challenge.⁶⁴ This undermines the quality of care for infants with albinism, harming their health. Sun protection measures are lifelong and must start early in life, ideally at birth to be maximally beneficial.⁶⁵ Over time, if care is not taken, continual sunburn predisposes children with albinism to skin cancer later in their lives. Researchers have determined that "regular use of sunscreen in temperate regions with an effective sun protection factor (SPF) of 7.5 within the first 18 years of life has been shown to reduce the lifetime incidence of non-melanoma skin cancers by 78%."66

In some cases, health care providers may also be afraid to discuss albinism due to the high prevalence of stigma in society. This failure to discuss the genetic condition within medical settings and provide adequate counseling to parents reinforces attitudes of stigma, which can lead to the abandonment of mothers by their partners, and have long-term effects on the mental health of both the mother and child. Women often bear the brunt of criticism and blame for giving birth to children with albinism, fueled by harmful myths of infidelity or being cursed – further predisposing women to intimate partner violence or ostracization by their partners.

When I gave birth to my daughter at a rural hospital, I didn't know that my child had albinism. No nurse explained to me the condition of my baby. When my husband's relatives came to visit me, they rejected my daughter with albinism. They blamed me for her condition and wanted to know what caused the albinism. On the way home with my daughter, after I was discharged, my mother-in-law was carrying the infant. As we approached a river, we needed to cross to get home, she suggested we throw the child in the water. When I refused, she handed the baby angrily to me. and we continued on our journey. The stigma and discrimination continued to the point that I felt like killing myself and my daughter. Eventually, I decided against it and left my husband's home and returned to my paternal home where I now live with my daughter.

Mother of a child with albinism from an urban community

The ostracization and mental abuse from family and, in many cases, total abandonment force women to raise the children alone as single parents, which may have adverse economic impacts and affect the quality of life, access to education, and health of the child. Where there is no counseling or community support, women are often divorced by their husbands after giving birth to children with albinism. The financial challenges of raising a child as a single mother, especially a child with albinism who needs specialized care and regular skin check-ups, can push women deeper into poverty.

One father of a child with albinism from rural Zimbabwe reported that nurses did not tell him that his newborn had albinism. He reported a widely held myth that, when a woman gives birth to a child with albinism, it is a sign that she has engaged in prostitution and must confess her wrongdoing. It was only after the man's own mother accepted and celebrated his daughter with albinism that the man relented and also began to prioritize and accept his child with albinism. In this case, the love of the relatives of the child with albinism helped to stop the discrimination, and the man ended up not abandoning his child or verbally abusing his wife.

This story demonstrates the importance of communities and organizations partnering with the government to address myths that fuel discrimination against children with albinism and provide support and a safety net to women who give birth to children with albinism. Another father in the workshop shared his experience with discrimination, providing insight into male perspectives, which should be further explored through future research. He stated,

"It is hard for men who have children with albinism. Other men will look down on you for having a child with albinism, and you might begin to blame yourself for the albinism. Men believe that if you have a child with albinism, it is the woman's fault and that she cheated. Some men can even ask you, 'So, now what are you going to do about this child?"

Health care providers, particularly in maternity wards, were seen by workshop participants as key partners in helping to dispel myths and address stigma and discrimination against persons with albinism and equipping new mothers and fathers to support their infants. For example, in South Africa, genetic counselors or genetic nurses are available in some health centers to counsel any woman who gave birth to a child with any genetic condition or disability including albinism.⁶⁷ A recent study affirmed the importance of genetic counselors' role in providing information about the condition of a child with albinism and how to care for the child, as well as equipping new mothers and families with the language to explain their baby's condition to the community.⁶⁸ In the workshop, one participant shared how counseling outside of health care centers helped her accept her baby with albinism. Health care workers who provide accurate information on the care of infants with albinism can also act as an important factor in building climate resilience for persons with albinism and their caregivers.⁶⁹

> When I gave birth to my daughter, I was very troubled. The attending doctor did not explain albinism or how to care for the child. I received counseling from an NGO, and this really helped me. I was encouraged not to hide my baby, and this helped me. I was also able to get access to sunscreen lotions.

> > — Mother of a child with albinism from a rural community

Zimbabwe's Ministry of Health should, in partnership with disability rights advocates, create ethical standards and guidelines and institute regular training to improve health care for persons with disabilities in both public and private sectors.⁷⁰

Incorrect Information or Lack of Knowledge about Child Care

In some cases, nurses provided incorrect information to mothers and families that asked about the condition of their infant. When my grandchild was born, I asked the nurses why the baby was so different. They couldn't explain that the baby had albinism. They said to me, "We also don't know what is wrong with the baby." Since we didn't know anything about her skin needs, when we went out to work on the farm, we took the baby with us. When she experienced sunburn, that is when we realized she shouldn't be out in the sun. So, my daughter and I had to learn how to look after the baby's skin on our own.

> - Grandmother of a child with albinism from a rural area

After I gave birth to my child with albinism, I asked the nurse what to use on his skin. The nurse told me he was exactly the same as any child with melanin, so I could use the same lotions and products on his skin. So, I did, but he experienced sunburn. Later, I met another mother of a child with albinism who then advised me to use sunscreen lotion.

> Mother of a child with albinism from the outskirts of Harare

One mother of a child with albinism shared that, upon giving birth, she was surprised that her child had pale skin. She was advised by the nurses that her child's pale skin color was only temporary and that it would darken over time. As a result, the mother would leave her baby out in the sun assuming that the skin color would change. She only learned after the fact from other families that her child had albinism and that exposure to the sun was quite harmful.

Where there is an information gap from health care experts, mothers resorted to alternative options for infant skin care until they learned about sunscreen lotion, often from community-based organizations or other persons with family members with albinism, including other mothers of children with albinism. Without adequate information, infants and children with albinism suffer sunburn, wounds, and other challenges affecting the health of their skin, including chronic skin damage by 12 months of age,⁷¹ which can create health challenges for them in the future. Access to health-related information and preventative services to support families and communities to safeguard the right to health of children is an essential element of the right to health and to lower the incidence of skin cancer in light of climate change.⁷²

Health care providers are critical partners in addressing discrimination and dispelling myths about persons with albinism, as they are often the first point of contact for mothers and fathers of children with albinism. They are also key agents of climate-responsive health care systems through the provision of scientifically sound information on how to protect infants and persons with albinism against climaterelated health impacts.

DISCRIMINATION WITHIN THE HEALTH SYSTEM

As persons with albinism grow from infancy and into adulthood, the toll of deeply entrenched harmful attitudes and beliefs leads to health discrimination. In this report, we define health discrimination as occurring when the lack of tailored and inclusive services in the public health sector, coupled with harmful societal attitudes and beliefs, negatively influence health-seeking behavior and the quality of health services at points of care for marginalized populations. Health discrimination also ultimately drives these populations away from accessing services promptly, impacting health outcomes.

Discrimination in the health system has a three-fold impact on persons with albinism: (i) it impedes access to quality and adequate physical and mental health care, (ii) it exacerbates the stigma and inequality that persons with albinism face due to their disability, and (iii) it negatively influences health-seeking behavior, often causing individuals to delay visiting health clinics and medical facilities for preventive screenings or care. This form of health discrimination presents in two ways:

- 1. Systemic discrimination by omission in health systems not designed to cater to certain minority groups
- 2. Lack of knowledge, training, and/or desire by health care workers to understand and treat individuals from certain minority groups

Systemic Discrimination by Omission

Health discrimination, characterized by the lack of inclusive or tailored health services, was evidenced through the general sentiment in workshops, where participants from both urban and rural settings expressed the paralyzing fear of receiving a skin cancer diagnosis regardless of whether they had access to adequate sunscreen lotion or not. Participants reported that they had no confidence in the possibility of receiving effective treatment in Zimbabwe and, in this way, a skin cancer diagnosis was equivalent to a death sentence. There are only two functional public health centers in Zimbabwe that offer diagnostic and treatment facilities for cancer. Additionally, the centers lack formal accommodation for patients seeking services and have "limited availability of resources, including chemotherapy medicines, opioid analgesics, and cancer control skilled manpower."73

The large-scale exodus of health workers and poor working conditions have affected the health care workforce in Zimbabwe, impacting health outcomes in the country.⁷⁴ Notably, Zimbabwe's public health sector provides 65% of health care services in the country.⁷⁵ In 2018, it was reported that less than 10 of the 787 medical specialists in Zimbabwe practice medicine in public hospitals.⁷⁶

In addition, participants in the workshop shared that health care costs can create significant barriers to access to treatment. Cancer survivors from the workshops shared that patients often need three to six (or more) cycles of chemotherapy depending on the depth and width of the wound for effective treatment. In addition to chemotherapy, patients also need blood transfusion and chemotherapy drugs. A cancer patient in Zimbabwe can expect to pay between \$40 to \$60 for a single regime of drugs.⁷⁷ Participants confirmed these costs anecdotally as well, sharing that biopsies can cost \$400, a cycle of chemotherapy costs \$300, and blood transfusions cost \$200.

There is a lack of diverse treatment options to care for persons with albinism affected by skin cancer. Non-invasive treatment options, such as nanorobotic surgery and cryotherapy, are not available to patients accessing public health services. Until June 2024,⁷⁸ there was no functional radiotherapy machine, a nonsurgical treatment that can destroy cancer cells on the skin, in any public hospital in Zimbabwe. Currently, there is only one functional radiotherapy machine located at Parirenyatwa Public Hospital in Harare.⁷⁹

With high costs of medical care and high levels of poverty among most persons with albinism, many end up abandoning conventional care for traditional or complementary medicine to treat the cancer. There is potential that the interaction of conventional medication and herbal medicines could lead to adverse reactions, such as increased toxicity or a decreased effectiveness of oncological treatment.⁸⁰

Preventative care, such as regular skin checks, is inaccessible to most persons with albinism. Participants from the workshops reported only having the ability to receive skin check-ups through NGOs such as the Zimbabwe Albino Association (ZIMAS) and the Noble Hands Trust of Zimbabwe (NHTZ), ZIMAS and NHTZ offer free screening services, but the frequency and availability are dependent on access to funding and may not be provided regularly. Organizations supporting persons with albinism in accessing dermatological services have reported that Zimbabwe only has three dermatologists in the whole country - two based in Harare and one in Bulawayo urban areas — but only one of these three has the clinical knowledge and expertise to treat skin conditions affecting persons with albinism.⁸¹

The government should ensure radiotherapy machines and technicians are available at public hospitals, provide regular free skin cancer screenings, engage in public campaigns on skin cancer education, and ensure access to subsidized/free sunscreen lotion and cancer care.

Discriminatory Attitudes, Approaches, and Practices Among Health and Care Workers

Participants also raised the issue of lack of quality care when they presented at health care facilities with dermatological conditions, such as sunburn or wounds from sun damage. While the Zimbabwe nurse and health care worker training curriculum reportedly contains assessment questions on the health of persons with albinism, this has not translated into quality care at points of service. Participants reported being told by nurses and doctors that they could not treat "their kind" - even when it was related to care for non-dermatological issues. Health discrimination is present for persons with albinism of all ages – making health services inaccessible to them in many public health institutions.

When my granddaughter with albinism developed open sores on her head, we took her to the local clinic. When we arrived at the clinic, a nurse said to us, "We don't know how to treat people like this. Go to another hospital."

- Grandmother and female caregiver of a child with albinism

There was also a general perception that health care workers were reluctant to treat skin conditions in persons with albinism on the basis that they present with challenging health conditions that are "difficult" to manage. There may be a need for the government to work closely with health care workers with albinism to ensure the robust nature of the curriculum and add regular supplemental training and awareness on albinism within health care institutions. The UN has reported that a lack of knowledgeable medical professionals presents a barrier to access to health care services for persons with albinism.⁸²

Workshop participants reported that, when persons with albinism enter a hospital with advanced skin cancer, hospital staff are often reluctant to admit them. If they were admitted, participants reported that many were simply ignored and left to manage without any pain medication or ever being assessed by a doctor. Additionally, when persons with albinism visit hospitals for outpatient treatment of growths or wounds, they are often prescribed painkillers and are generally not referred for cancer screening.83 Many persons with albinism also reported being prescribed betadine, an antiseptic solution, to treat their wounds, which was often ineffective and led to the wound expanding and deepening.

The collective of organizations, and workshop participants reported that they have encountered persons with albinism who were prescribed sunscreen lotion to treat pre-cancerous wounds or given antibiotics, rather than being advised to visit the hospital for cryotherapy to treat wounds.

In other circumstances, persons with albinism who have cancer or precancerous wounds shared that they were asked to return for treatment at a later date or experienced a long delay in receiving biopsy results, which worsened their health condition. In one case, a woman married to a man with albinism reported that her husband suffered from skin cancer for 11 years without ever receiving adequate or quality care at a health facility. Her husband eventually died.

Sunburns and open wounds can also increase the risk of isolation from society and experiencing discriminatory acts as individuals are shunned by members of the public or abandoned by their family members. Such additional stigma compounds upon the exclusion and forms of discrimination persons with albinism already face based on their skin color, further taking a negative toll on their mental health. Additionally, due to internalized stigma and negative attitudes from members of the public, one participant shared the shame that she felt when taking public transportation to visit a medical professional due to the physical appearance of her sunburns, wounds, and cancerous tumors. She shared that she started to avoid medical appointments altogether, despite the severity of her wounds, until a family member agreed to accompany her on the journey. As a result of substandard care in public health care settings, persons with albinism often feel burdened by the demands of disease management on top of the general challenges they face in daily life.⁸⁴ These burdens compound for patients, leading to treatment fatigue, which in turn drives them away from the regular healthcare visits needed to prevent and treat skin conditions. Ultimately, they bear the burden of continually educating health care providers about the nature of their wounds and advocating the urgent need to receive treatment for their skin condition.

Climate Change, Health, the Right to Work

There is also a harmful cyclical relationship between albinism, climate change, informal work, livelihoods, and health. Many of the workshop participants with albinism reported engaging in some form of informal employment, more commonly either as a vendor or as a farmer, which predisposes them to climate-related health challenges.⁸⁵

My husband, Farai (pseudonym), worked as a vendor and spent a lot of time outdoors. As a result, he developed blisters, which worsened over time until he developed cancer. In seeking treatment, Farai was repeatedly turned away from health services and told to return for treatment over the course of one year. Due to a failure to access timely services, his wounds became deeper and wider. Eventually, because the cancer had advanced, he was advised to go for four cycles of chemotherapy. When Farai presented at a health care facility for chemotherapy, the machines were not working, so he had to travel to another hospital for treatment. Unfortunately, due to COVID-19, Farai had erratic access to chemotherapy services, and he eventually died after having only undergone one chemotherapy cycle out of the prescribed four cycles. When Farai died, due to stigma and discrimination no one from my family bothered to check up on me and my children, two of whom are children with albinism.

- The widow of a man with albinism from urban Zimbabwe

Farai's story illustrates a harmful dynamic: to maintain a quality of life, persons with albinism must work, but, if they work outdoors in unfavorable conditions, they risk their health. In the end, the choice is between being able to protect one's health and the ability to work and provide.

The UN reports that persons with albinism face many difficulties in accessing formal employment, including discrimination and unaccommodating work environments.86 Additionally, due to the failure to make accommodations in many public education institutions, persons with albinism end up dropping out of school and are unable to obtain the necessary qualifications to secure jobs in the formal sector. According to the UN, these barriers cause many persons with albinism worldwide to be "unemployed or precariously employed, with many forced to work low-paid, short-term jobs in the informal sector."87 Climate change can also result in the loss of employment completely or diminished hours of productivity due to the harsh environmental factors.

> 2024 was very hot, and I couldn't farm as well as I have managed to do in past years. I usually start farming at 6 a.m. but, by 8 a.m., it's already so hot that I have to return to my home. This means I have shorter hours available to engage in my farming activities only two hours. By 5 p.m., when it is cooler and I want to return to the field, the sun is setting and the day is already over.

- Female farmer from rural Zimbabwe

GENDER, ALBINISM, AND CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change impacts the livelihoods and employment of persons with albinism in urban and rural areas, with a differential impact on women — who are more likely to be in vulnerable employment compared to men.⁸⁸

In urban areas, vendors with albinism are affected by high temperatures due to climate change, which may interfere with or limit the hours they can work and earn money. Many mothers who work as vendors in Zimbabwe tend to ply their trade with their infants or young children strapped to their backs. Mothers of infants or children with albinism tend to spend shorter hours in their vending activities or cease their livelihoods completely because of the risk of sunburn to their infants or children, impacting their overall income. As a result, climate change has a disproportionate gendered impact on mothers of children with albinism - where female-headed single-parent households result in women taking on the added burden as caregivers and breadwinners. This heavy load is made cumbersome by the lack of familial and systemic support towards childcare due to prevailing and entrenched societal attitudes of discrimination towards persons with albinism of all ages.

Women constitute 70% of the labor in rural communities, making up the majority of subsistence farmers.⁸⁹ Because of gender roles in Zimbabwean society that women contribute to household food security, the ability to engage in agricultural activities is critically important and central to womanhood.

As a result, women face additional pressures due to the competing interests of safeguarding their health, fulfilling their gendered roles of labor and caregiving, and securing household nutrition. Workshop participants shared that women with albinism are often burdened with the stereotypes of being labeled as lazy because of the limited time they can spend outdoors for health reasons. Rising temperatures and longer days result in fewer opportunities for them to safely work on tasks that are often carried out by women. Many women in the workshops reported that family members would criticize their work ethic and productivity, especially in rural settings, where families often rely on a woman's farming labor for subsistence. This impact of climate change affects intimate relationships and can result in divorce or rejection of the woman and her children from the family.

My in-laws used to call me a "vampire" because I used to do all the necessary chores plowing the fields and collecting water — before the sun came out. My husband never defended me against their verbal attacks. In the end, he eventually moved to another country, abandoning my child and me. I tried to continue living with his relatives, but I eventually left as living with them was hard. They did not love me or my child.

> — Woman with albinism from urban Zimbabwe

Due to the adaptation measures of working very early in the morning or late in the evening to avoid sun exposure, women with albinism are potentially at risk of endangering their security from violent attacks.

For both urban and rural women with albinism, living with the fear of a skin cancer diagnosis negatively impacts their mental health. One female farmer from rural Zimbabwe who had wounds around her eyes expressed fear of being screened for skin cancer, noting that such a diagnosis would make her think of death and likely cause extreme emotional stress and high blood pressure.

For women with albinism, who are often left to parent their children alone, the fear of skin cancer means that women live in perpetual fear of leaving their children orphaned.

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ACCESS TO SUNSCREEN LOTION

In Zimbabwe, participants and activists reported that they did not have regular and reliable access to sunscreen lotion. A female farmer in the workshop explained that to access sunscreen lotion, she needed to find a vehicle that would transport her to the distribution point — a 1 hour and 15-minute drive. If she did not manage to collect the sunscreen lotion, she would not be able to work.

Workshop participants from rural communities reported being hardest hit by climate change⁹⁰ and, thus, have a higher demand for sunscreen lotion due to a multiplicity of daily outdoor activities, such as fetching water, herding cattle, and farming. Generally, rural communities reported having erratic access to sunscreen lotion, relying on donations from NGOs who were able to travel to the remote outlying areas. Participants shared they used the following untested and potentially harmful substitutes for sunscreen lotion.

- Paraffin and Kerosene
- Wild Fruit
- Camphor-Based Lotions
- A Mixture of Lemon Juice and Cooking Oil

However, many of these products lack requisite sun protection factors, increase risks of sunburn, and can be otherwise harmful to one's health when applied to the skin. **Paraffin and Kerosene:** Paraffin is readily available in rural areas as it is used to fuel paraffin stoves or to light paraffin lamps. People have reported that using paraffin on the skin on hot days has a cooling effect. Kerosene is a flammable pale yellow or colorless oily liquid with a characteristic odor and belongs to a heterogeneous group of substances called hydrocarbons. It is used domestically for cooking and lighting wick lamps or kerosene lamps.⁹¹ In human beings, chronic exposure to kerosene on the skin revealed a high incidence of oil acne and dermatitis of varying degrees.⁹² While no testing has been conducted on human beings, laboratory testing on rats has found that kerosene spillage on the skin compromised dermal barrier function and the ability of the skin to retain water, negatively affecting the skin's ability to prevent entry by potentially harmful foreign substances.⁹³

Wild Fruit: A poultice was made by mashing the wild fruit and spreading it on the skin.

Camphor-Based Lotions: Lotions made of camphor oil are popular and widely available in the country. These commercial products can be harmful when applied to broken skin and typically have low or no sun protection factor. Many workshop participants reported experiencing sunburn after use.

A Mixture of Lemon Juice and Cooking Oil: Utilized over the skin like a lotion.

CONCLUSION

Persons with albinism face extreme forms of discrimination and stigma, which leads them to live as outcasts in most societies. The climate crisis threatens the human rights of persons with albinism, particularly their right to health and work. Climate change brings into sharp focus the structural flaws and limitations of how many national health systems are ableist making them either inaccessible or unable to provide quality care to persons with albinism. Zimbabwe has the opportunity to reform and tailor its health care and protection systems in response to the climate crisis and in line with its international treaty obligations.

Including the voices and participation of persons with albinism is critical in designing climate-resilient systems and structures that effectively address mental and physical health impacts. National leaders and policymakers must adopt an intersectoral and intersectional lens to health in the age of climate change — the economic, the environmental, the social, and the biological cannot be treated in isolation.

Recommendations

TO THE GOVERNMENT OF ZIMBABWE:

To fulfill its obligations as a state party of the African Disability Protocol, the Maputo Protocol and other international treaties, the Constitution, and Zimbabwe's National Disability Protocol, the government of Zimbabwe through its various ministries needs to:

- 1. Conduct public national advocacy and education campaigns in partnership with the organizations supporting persons with albinism to address stigma and discrimination, and promote inclusion and acceptance to end stigma and discrimination. (*Article 4 (d) and (e) of the African Disability Protocol*)
- 2. Ensure that it has accurate data on the number of persons with albinism in the country by training enumerators on the importance of the recently added question on the national census on persons with albinism in Zimbabwe. The collection of accurate data will enable the government to:
 - Provide access to sunscreen lotion, wide-brimmed sun hats, preventative health checks, and skin cancer screening services to lower the risk of incidence in the community. This is in line with its most recent national cancer strategy, which has noted that public health actions by governments towards prevention are the most effective approach to cancer management.
 - Provide adequate numbers of visual aids (e.g., magnifying glasses or monocular eyewear) and assistive learning devices (large font textbooks) to children with albinism in schools across the country
 - Support the right to work and live a dignified life of persons with albinism in both rural and urban areas
- 3. Update existing climate change policies to take into the physical and mental health needs of persons with albinism, recognizing that climate change is a real and immediate threat to the lives of the community
- 4. Improve access to clinically tested sunscreen lotion for all persons with albinism in need, including in rural areas
- 5. Conduct regular training programs for health care workers to minimize discriminatory encounters that negatively affect health-seeking behavior and health service experiences for persons with albinism
- 6. Support efforts at the global level to reinstate sunscreen lotion on the WHO Essential Medicines List
- 7. Implement policies aligned with the SADC Declaration on the Protection of Persons with Albinism
- 8. Create social protections for women with children with disabilities and persons with disabilities, including those with albinism who are employed in the informal sector (*Article 13(f) of the Maputo Protocol*)

- 9. Provide social protections to female-headed households of women with albinism and other disabilities and of those that provide care to children with albinism or other disabilities (*Article 13 (h) of the Maputo Protocol*)
- 10. Provide grants to organizations supporting persons with albinism access to health and work opportunities

TO CIVIL SOCIETY ORGANIZATIONS WORKING TO SUPPORT PERSONS WITH ALBINISM IN ZIMBABWE:

- 1. Form coalitions to support lobby efforts for the rights and welfare of persons with albinism in Zimbabwe in both rural and urban settings to ensure fulfillment of that "no person is left behind" in the enjoyment of human rights
- 2. Collaborate with the Ministry of Health to support efforts to improve child health for babies with albinism by advocating for the introduction of genetic counselors or genetic nurses to provide medical information and educational support for women and their families when a baby with albinism is born
- 3. Organizations should work with communities with albinism to develop climate mitigation and adaptation strategies that can help support mental and physical wellness. These strategies should include education on climate change, how persons with albinism can protect themselves, and exploring alternative methods to maintain their livelihoods, while also protecting their health
- 4. Work in partnership with organizations, such as Friendship Bench, to provide tailored, accessible support groups and programs to mitigate the mental health impacts of climate change on persons with albinism

TO RESEARCH AND ACADEMIC INSTITUTIONS:

- 1. Research the health implications regarding the use of alternative products (kerosene, wild fruits, etc.) as a form of sunscreen
- 2. Research and map the current attitudes and perceptions driving stigma and discrimination in Zimbabwe among health care workers
- 3. Partner with government and civil society to drive local innovation that enables access to low-cost assistive devices in the country for persons with albinism
- 4. Study male attitudes and gender norms around the birth of children with albinism in Zimbabwe. Address gender-based discrimination and explore opportunities for building the resilience of fathers to minimize abandonment of children

ENDNOTES

- 1 Bethuel Sibongiseni Ngcamu, "Climate Change Effects on Vulnerable Populations in the Global South: A Systematic Review," *Natural Hazards* 118, no. 2 (2023): 977–91, https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11069-023-06070-2.
- 2 Farai Mutsaka, "In Zimbabwe, People with Albinism Struggle Against Prejudice," *AP* News, June 13, 2020, https://apnews.com/article/7eae9a42465074ff-4b3eb20399991251.
- 3 United Nations. Report of the Independent Expert on the Enjoyment of Human Rights by Persons with Albinism: A Preliminary Survey on the Root Causes of Attacks and Discrimination against Persons with Albinism. UN Doc A/71/255, 2016, https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/838972?ln=en&v=pdf.
- 4 David Eckstein, Vera Kunzel and Laura Schafer, "Who Suffers Most from Extreme Weather Events? Weather-Related Loss Events in 2019 and 2000-2019, *Global Climate Risk Index 2021*, https://www.germanwatch.org/sites/ default/files/Global%20Climate%20Risk%20Index%20 2021_2.pdf.
- 5 Jennifer G.R. Kromberg, Kaitlyn A. Flynn, and Robert A. Kerr, "Determining a Worldwide Prevalence of Oculocutaneous Albinism: A Systematic Review," *Investigative Opthalmology & Visual Science* 64, no. 10 (2023): 14, https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10353740/.
- 6 Justin R. Federico and Karthik Krishnamurthy, *Albinism* (StatPearls Publishing LLC, 2023) https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/books/NBK519018/.
- 7 Esther S Hong, Hajo Zeeb, and Michael H Repacholi, "Albinism in Africa as a Public Health Issue," *BMC Public Health* 6, no. 1 (2006), https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-6-212; see also Abdallah Possi and Ally Possi, "The Identity Question Versus Appropriateness of Legal Anti-Discrimination Measures: Endorsing The Disability Rights Approach to Albinism," *African Disability Rights Yearbook* 5 (2021): 119, http://doi.org/10.29053/2413-7138/2017/ v5n1a7).
- 8 Farai Maunganidze, Kudakwashe Machiha, and Martha Mapuranga, "Employment Barriers and Opportunities Faced by People With Albinism. A Case of Youths With Albinism in Harare, Zimbabwe," *Cogent Social Sciences* 8 no.1 (2022), https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2022.2092309.
- 9 Fidel Rubagumya et al., "Feasibility Study of a Smartphone Application for Detecting Skin Cancers in People With Albinism," *JCO Global Oncology*, no. 6 (2020): 1370 https://ascopubs.org/doi/full/10.1200/GO.20.00264.
- 10 Esther Nakkazi, "People With Albinism in Africa: Contending With Skin Cancer," *The Lancet* 394, no. 10198 (2019): 553-554.
- Communication 24/2014, Z v United Republic of Tanzania, CRPD Committee (15 October 2019), UN Doc CRP-D/C/22/D/24/2014 (2019), para. 7.3.
- 12 UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD), adopted December 13, 2006, G.A. Res. 61/106, Annex I, UN GAOR, 61st Sess., Supp. (No. 49) at 65, UN Doc. A/61/49 (2006), entered into force May 3, 2008, ratified by Zimbabwe Sept. 23 2013, art. 1.
- 13 Esther S Hong, Hajo Zeeb, and Michael H Repacholi, "Albinism in Africa as a Public Health Issue," *BMC Public Health* 6, no. 1 (2006), https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-6-212.
- 14 Anita Franklin et al., "Children With Albinism in African Regions: Their Rights to 'Being' and 'Doing'" BMC International Health and Human Rights 18, no. 1 (2018) https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5767025/#:-:text=There%20are%20different%20types%20of,Africa%20

%5B4%2C%205%5D; see also, Patricia M. Lund and Mark Roberts, *Prevalence and Population Genetics of Albinism: Surveys in Zimbabwe, Namibia, and Tanzania in Albinism in Africa* (Academic Press, 2018), Chapter 4.

- 15 Esther S Hong, Hajo Zeeb, and Michael H Repacholi, "Albinism in Africa as a Public Health Issue," *BMC Public Health* 6, no. 1 (2006), https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-6-212; see also G.A. HRC/28/75, UN Human Rights Council, Advisory Committee Report on The Study of The Situation of Human Rights of Persons Living With Albinism, A/HRC/28/75 (2015).
- 16 Eva Rawlings Parker, "The Influence of Climate Change on Skin Cancer Incidence: A Review of The Evidence," International Journal of Women's Dermatology 7, no. 1 (2021): 17–27 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijwd.2020.07.003.
- 17 Deevya L. Narayanan, Rao N. Saladi and Joshua L. Fox, "Ultraviolet Radiation and Skin Cancer," International *Journal of Dermatology*, 49, No. 9 (2010): 978–986, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-4632.2010.0<u>4474.x.</u>
- 18 Caradee Y. Wright et al., "The Incidence of Skin Cancer in Relation to Climate Change in South Africa," *Atmo-sphere* 10, no. 10 (2019): 634, https://doi.org/10.3390/ atmos10100634.
- 19 Government of Zimbabwe, Zimbabwe Revised Nationally Determined Contribution, (2021), https://www.germanwatch.org/sites/default/files/Global%20Climate%20 Risk%20Index%202021_2.pdf.

- 21 *Id.*
- 22 "Zimbabwe," UNDP Climate Change Adaptation, https:// www.adaptation-undp.org/explore/africa/zimbabwe#:-:text=Climate%20change%20impacts%20in%20Zimbabwe,over%20the%20last%20two%20decades.
- 23 "Zimbabwe Drought Flash Appeal: May 2024-April 2025." United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, May 2024. https://www.unocha.org/ publications/report/zimbabwe/zimbabwe-drought-flashappeal-may-2024-april-2025-may-2024.
- 24 Barbara Astle et al., "Global Impact of Climate Change on Persons with Albinism: A Human Rights Issue," *The Journal of Climate Change and Health*, 9 (2023): 100190, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joclim.2022.100190.
- 25 John D'Orazio et al., "UV Radiation and the Skin," International Journal of Molecular Sciences 14, no. 6 (2013) 12222-12248, https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/ PMC3709783/; see also, "Ultraviolet Radiation and Skin Cancer," Cleveland Clinic, https://my.clevelandclinic.org/ health/diseases/10985-ultraviolet-radiation.
- 26 Fidel Rubagumya et al., "Feasibility Study of a Smartphone Application for Detecting Skin Cancers in People With Albinism," *JCO Global Oncology*, no. 6 (2020)1370 https://ascopubs.org/doi/full/10.1200/GO.20.00264.
- 27 Samson K. Kiprono, Baraka M. Chaula and Helmut Beltraminelli, "Histological Review of Skin Cancers in African Albinos: a 10-Year Retrospective Review," *BMC Cancer* 14, no. 1 (2014): 1-4, https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-157.
- 28 Esther Nakkazi, "People With Albinism in Africa: Contending With Skin Cancer," *The Lancet* 394 no. 10198 (2019): 553 -554, https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(19)31941-5.
- 29 Constitution of Zimbabwe of 2013, Section 22 (1).
- 30 *Id.* at Section 22(2).
- 31 *Id.* at Section 22 (3) (b) and Section 22(4).
- 32 *Id.* at Section 56.
- 33 Id. at Section 51.
- 34 Id. at Section 48(1).

²⁰ Id.

- 35 *Id.* at Section 14.
- 36 Id. at Section 29, Section 19 (2)(b), and Section 76.
- 37 Government of Zimbabwe, National Disability Policy, https://veritaswomen.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/ National-Disability-Policy-June-20211.pdf.
- 38 "Government Launches National Assistive Technology Strategy and Assistive Products Priority List for People With Disabilities," Vision Ability Zimbabwe, last modified May 28, 2024, https://vaz.org.zw/government-launches-national-assistive-technology-strategy-and-assistive-products-priority-list-for-people-with-disabilities/.
- 39 "Zimbabwe to remove tax on assistive technology," *The Sunday Mail*, November 03, 2024, https://www.sundaymail.co.zw/new-zimbabwe-to-remove-tax-on-assistive-technology.
- 40 Government of Zimbabwe, Persons with Disabilities Bill, 2023, https://www.jsc.org.zw/upload/Gazette/H.B.%20 2,%202023%20Persons%20with%20Disabilities%20Bill. pdf.
- 41 "OAU/AU Treaties, Conventions Signed by Zimbabwe," African Union, https://au.int/treaties/signedby/65.
- 42 Peter Tanyanyiwa, "Zimbabwe Ratifies African Disability Protocol, Paving The Way For Improved Rights and Inclusion," *The Herald*, May 20 2024, https://www.herald. co.zw/zimbabwe-ratifies-african-disability-protocol-paving-the-way-for-improved-rights-and-inclusion/#:-:text=The%20ADP%20stands%20as%20the,practices%2-C%20beliefs%2C%20and%20superstitions.
- 43 Protocol to the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights on the Rights of Women in Africa, adopted by the 2nd Ordinary Session of the Assembly of the Union, Maputo, CAB/LEG/66.6 (Sept. 13, 2000); reprinted in 1 Afr. Hum. Rts. L.J. 40, entered into force Nov. 25, 2005, ratified by Zimbabwe April 15, 2008, art. 4(b).
- 44 Id.
- 45 "Communique of the 44th Ordinary Summit of SADC Heads of State and Government," Southern African Development Community, August 17, 2024, https:// www.sadc.int/latest-news/communique-44th-ordinary-summit-sadc-heads-state-and-government-17th-august-2024-harare#:-:text=Summit%20adopted%20 and%20signed%20the,faced%20by%20Persons%20 with%20Albinism.
- 46 Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Statement by the United Nations Independent Expert on Albinism at the Southern African Development Community (SADC) Meeting, August 23, 2024, https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/albinism/statements/20240823-stm-IE-albinism-sadc.pdf.
- 47 "Ratification Status for Zimbabwe," *United Nations Human Rights Treaty Bodies Database*, https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/TreatyBodyExternal/Treaty. aspx?CountryID=195&Lang=EN.
- 48 See Communication 24/2014, Z v United Republic of Tanzania, CRPD Committee (October 15 2019), UN Doc CRPD/C/22/D/24/2014 (2019) para. 7.3.
- 49 G.A. Res. 48/189, United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, A/RES/48/189 (January 20 1994), https://www.refworld.org/legal/resolution/unga/1994/ en/26583.
- 50 Id.
- 51 Zimbabwe National Statistics Agency (ZIMSTAT). 2022 Zimbabwe Population and Housing Census: Final Report. January 2023. https://www.zimstat.co.zw/wp-content/uploads/Demography/Census/2022_PHC_Report_27012023_Final.pdf.

- 52 Ikponwosa Ero et al., People With Albinism Worldwide: A Human Rights Perspective, https://www.ohchr.org/ sites/default/files/Documents/Issues/Albinism/Albinism_Worldwide_Report2021_EN.pdf.
- 53 John Ringson, "Misconceptions Associated with Children Living with Albinism: Evidence from the Gutu District, Zimbabwe," *Southern African Journal of Social Work and Social Development* 30, no. 2 (2018), https://doi. org/10.25159/2415-5829/4061.
- 54 Collis Garikai Machoko, "Albinism: A Life of Ambiguity
 a Zimbabwean Experience," *African Identities*, 11 no. 3
 (2013): 318-333, https://doi.org/10.1080/14725843.2013.
 838896.
- 55 Id.
- 56 Ikponwosa Ero et al., People With Albinism Worldwide: A Human Rights Perspective, https://www.ohchr.org/ sites/default/files/Documents/Issues/Albinism/Albinism_ Worldwide_Report2021_EN.pdf.
- 57 Ikponwosa Ero et al., People With Albinism Worldwide: A Human Rights Perspective, https://www.ohchr.org/ sites/default/files/Documents/Issues/Albinism/Albinism_ Worldwide_Report2021_EN.pdf.
- 58 Charlotte Baker et al., "The Myths Surrounding People With Albinism in South Africa and Zimbabwe," *Journal* of African Cultural Studies, 22, NO. 2 (2010): 169-181. https://doi.org/10.1080/13696815.2010.491412.
- 59 UNCESCR. GC. 14, The Right to The Highest Standard of Health, (article 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights), E/C.12/2000/4, https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/425041?ln=en&v=pdf.
- 60 Protocol to the African Charter on Human and People's Rights on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in Africa, adopted January 29, 2018, entered into force June 05, 2024, ratified by Zimbabwe May 16, 2024
- 61 *Id.* at 14 (2) (g).
- 62 *Id.* at Article 14 (2) (b).
- 63 Barbara Astle et al., "Global Impact of Climate Change on Persons with Albinism: A Human Rights Issue," *The Journal of Climate Change and Health*, 9 (2023): 100190, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joclim.2022.100190.
- 64 *Id.*
- Uche Rowland Ojinmah Et al., "Sunscreen Use Among Albinos in Enugu, South-Eastern Nigeria," *International Journal of Medicine and Health Development* 26, no. 3 (2021): 39-146, https://doi.org/10.4103/ijmh.ijmh_1_20.
- 66 *Id*.
- 67 P.M. Lund, "Oculocutaneous Albinism in Southern Africa: Population Structure, Health and Genetic Care," *Annals* of Human Biology 32, no.2 (2005): 168-173, https://doi. org/10.1080/03014460500075423.
- 68 Charlotte Baker et al., "The Myths Surrounding People With Albinism in South Africa and Zimbabwe," *Journal of African Cultural Studies* 22, no. 2 (2010): 169-181; https:// doi.org/10.1080/13696815.2010.491412.
- 69 United Nations. Report of the Independent Expert on the Enjoyment of Human Rights by Persons with Albinism, Muluka-Anne Miti-Drummond: Climate Change and Persons with Albinism. UN Doc A/78/167, 2023, https://www.ohchr.org/en/documents/thematic-reports/ a78167-report-independent-expert-enjoyment-human-rights-persons-albinism.
- 70 Government of Zimbabwe, National Disability Policy, paras. 3.7.14, https://veritaswomen.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/National-Disability-Policy-June-20211.pdf.
- 71 Patricia M Lund and Julie S Taylor, "Lack of Adequate Sun Protection for Children With Oculocutaneous Albinism

in South Africa," *BMC Public Health* 8, no. 1 (2008): 225, https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-8-225.

- 72 United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment No. 14 on the Right to the Highest Attainable Standard of Health, UN Doc E. C 12/2000/4 (General Comment 14). para. 11.
- 73 Government of Zimbabwe, National Cancer Prevention and Control Strategy for Zimbabwe 2014 - 2018, p. vi vii.
- 74 Jeffrey Moyo, "Zimbabwe Faces Endless Exodus of Health Workers Amid Decreasing Salaries and Worsening Working Conditions." *Health Policy Watch*, June 19, 2024. https://healthpolicy-watch.news/zimbabwe-faces-endless-exodus-of-health-workers-amid-decreasing-salaries-and-worsening-working-conditions/.
- 75 Annual Report of the WHO Country Office in Zimbabwe, https://www.afro.who.int/sites/default/files/2023-08/ WHO%20Zimbabwe%20Annual%20Report%20 2022%20.pdf.
- 76 "Health Sector Sneezes," *The Sunday Mail*, February 11, 2018, https://www.sundaymail.co.zw/health-sector-sneezes.
- 77 Michael Gwarisa, "Parirenyatwa Hospital Receives USD50,000.00 Worth of Chemotherapy Drugs," *Healthtimes*, February 06, 2024, https://healthtimes.co.zw/2024/02/06/parirenyatwa-hospital-receives-us50000-worth-of-chemotherapy-drugs/.
- 78 Rumbidzayi Zinyuke, "Parirenyatwa Resumes Radiotherapy Services," *The Herald*, June 19, 2024, https://www. herald.co.zw/parirenyatwa-resumes-radiotherapy-services/.
- 79 Id.
- 80 Vasques, Ana Carolina, Patricia Cavaco, Tânia Duarte, Vanessa Duarte Branco, Mafalda Miranda Baleiras, Marta Pinto, Filipa Ferreira, Maria de Falcão, Tiago Dias Domingues, and Ana Martins. "The Use of Herbal Medicines among Cancer Patients." Cureus, February 2, 2024. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.53455.
- 81 Information provided by Noble Hands Zimbabwe Trust.
- 82 Ikponwosa Ero et al., People With Albinism Worldwide: A Human Rights Perspective, https://www.ohchr.org/ sites/default/files/Documents/Issues/Albinism/Albinism_ Worldwide_Report2021_EN.pdf.
- 83 United Nations. Report of the Independent Expert on the Enjoyment of Human Rights by Persons with Albinism, Muluka-Anne Miti-Drummond: Climate Change and Persons with Albinism. UN Doc A/78/167, 2023, https://www.ohchr.org/en/documents/thematic-reports/ a78167-report-independent-expert-enjoyment-human-rights-persons-albinism.

- 84 Heckman, B. W., A. R. Mathew, and M. J. Carpenter. "Treatment Burden and Treatment Fatigue as Barriers to Health." *Current Opinion in Psychology* 5 (October 1, 2015): 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.03.004.
- 85 United Nations. Report of the Independent Expert on the Enjoyment of Human Rights by Persons with Albinism, Muluka-Anne Miti-Drummond: Climate Change and Persons with Albinism. UN Doc A/78/167, 2023, https://www.ohchr.org/en/documents/thematic-reports/ a78167-report-independent-expert-enjoyment-human-rights-persons-albinism.
- 86 Ikponwosa Ero et al., People With Albinism Worldwide: A Human Rights Perspective, https://www.ohchr.org/sites/ default/files/Documents/Issues/Albinism/Albinism_ Worldwide_Report2021_EN.pdf.
- 87 *Id.*
- 88 "Vulnerable Employment for Females Has Improved in Zimbabwe since 1991," World Bank Gender Data Portal, https://genderdata.worldbank.org/en/economies/zimbabwe#:-:text=Vulnerable%20employment%20for%20females%20has,rate%20in%20Sub%2DSaharan%20Africa.
- 89 "Rural Women Rising: How Climate-Smart Agriculture Is Empowering Women Farmers and Bridging Gender Divides in Southern Zimbabwe," UNDP, February 29, 2024, Available at: https://www.adaptation-undp.org/ rural-women-rising-how-climate-smart-agriculture-empowering-women-farmers-and-bridging-gender.
- 90 Louis Nyahunda and Happy M. Tirivangasi, "Challenges Faced by Rural People in Mitigating the Effects of Climate Change in the Mazungunye Communal lands, Zimbabwe," Jamba Journal of Disaster Risk Studies 11, no. 1 (2019), https://doi.org/10.4102/jamba.v1111.596.
- 91 Geoffrey K. Maiyoh, Rachel W. Njoroge and Vivian C. Tuei, "Effects and Mechanisms of Kerosene Use-Related Toxicity." *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology* 40, no. 1 (2015): 57-70, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2015.05.010.
- 92 R.K. Upreti, M. Das and R. Shanker, "Dermal Exposure to Kerosene," *Vet Hum Toxicol*, 31, no. 1 (1989).
- 93 Id.